RECEIVED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
May 23, 2014, 3:06 pm  
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER  
CLERK

E CPJ  
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 90204-6

SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

CANNABIS ACTION COALITION, ARTHUR WEST,

Plaintiffs,

STEVE SARICH, JOHN WORTHINGTON, and DERYCK TSANG,

Appellants,

v.

CITY OF KENT, et al.,

Respondents.

---

DERYCK TSANG'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

David S. Mann, WSBA #21068  
GENDLER & MANN, LLP  
936 N. 34<sup>th</sup> St., Suite 400  
Seattle, WA 98103  
(206) 621-8868  
Attorneys for Appellant Deryck Tsang

ORIGINAL

##

## **I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Deryck Tsang asks this Court to accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, designated in Part II.

## **II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Deryck Tsang asks this Court to review the Court of Appeal's Decision in *Cannabis Action Coalition et al. v. City of Kent*, \_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, 322 P.3d 1246 (2014)(Appendix 1).

## **III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. RCW 69.51A.085 creates an express right for qualifying patients to create and participate in "collective gardens" for the purpose of producing, processing, and transporting cannabis for medical use. The City of Kent has adopted zoning regulations that prohibit collective gardens anywhere within the City limits. Is the City pre-empted from banning collective gardens throughout the City?

2. RCW 69.51A.040 prohibits both criminal prosecution and civil enforcement against the medical use of cannabis by qualifying patients so long as the use is consistent with Ch. 69.51A RCW. The City of Kent declares a violation of its zoning code a "public nuisance" and threatens violators with civil and criminal liability. Is the City preempted

from subjecting qualifying patients to criminal or civil liability for creating or participating in collective gardens within the City?

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

##### **A. A Brief History of Washington's Law on Medical Cannabis**

On November 3, 1998, the people of Washington overwhelmingly approved Initiative 692 allowing for the medical use of marijuana for patients with certain terminal or debilitating conditions.<sup>1</sup> By approving Initiative 692, the people specifically found:

[t]hat humanitarian compassion necessitates that the decision to authorize the medical use of marijuana by patients with terminal or debilitating illnesses is a personal, individual decision, based upon their physicians' professional medical judgment and discretion.

Laws of 1999, ch. 2, § 2, codified at RCW 69.51A.005. As originally enacted, Initiative 692 excepted licensed physicians from the state's criminal laws, prohibited penalties of any manner, and prohibited the denial of any rights or privileges for physicians advising qualifying

---

<sup>1</sup> Initiative 692 identified a list of some of the illnesses for which marijuana appears to be beneficial including "chemotherapy-related nausea and vomiting in cancer patients, AIDS wasting syndrome, severe muscle spasms associated with multiple sclerosis and other spasticity disorders; epilepsy; acute or chronic glaucoma; and some forms of intractable pain." RCW 69.51A.005, RCW 69.51A.010(4) (definition of "terminal or debilitating medical condition[s]"); Laws of 1999, ch. 2, §§ 2, 6.

patients about the risks and benefits of medical use of marijuana as well as providing valid documentation to those patients. Laws of 1999, ch. 2, § 4, codified at RCW 69.51A.030. Initiative 692 also created an affirmative defense for any “qualifying patient” or “designated primary caregiver” charged with violation of state law related to marijuana. Laws of 1999, ch. 2, § 5, codified at RCW 69.51A.040.<sup>2</sup>

In April 2011 the Legislature passed Engrossed Second Substitute Senate Bill 5073, Laws of 2011, ch. 181 (“ESSSB 5073”), ESSSB 5073 substantially amending Initiative 692 and Ch. 69.51A RCW. The bill, as originally passed by the Legislature, would have set up a state regulatory licensing scheme for the growth and production of medical marijuana (renamed in the bill as “medical cannabis”) through commercial “licensed producers” and then distribution of the medical cannabis, including seeds,

---

<sup>2</sup> A “Qualifying patient” means a person who:

- (a) Is a patient of a health care professional;
- (b) Has been diagnosed by that health care professional as having a terminal or debilitating medical condition;
- (c) Is a resident of the state of Washington at the time of such diagnosis;
- (d) Has been advised by that health care professional about the risks and benefits of the medical use of marijuana; and
- (e) Has been advised by that health care professional that they may benefit from the medical use of marijuana.

Laws of 1999, ch. 2, § 6, codified at RCW 69.51A.010.

plants, usable cannabis and cannabis products, through commercial “licensed dispensaries.” See ESSSB 5073, Parts VI and VII.<sup>3</sup> The bill also would have established a state registration system through the Department of Health for qualifying patients, designated providers, licensed producers, processors and dispensers. *Id.*, Part IX.

Before the Governor could sign the bill, the U.S. Attorneys in Seattle and Spokane sent the Governor an advisory letter warning that state employees who participated in the authorizing and licensing of commercial businesses that produce, process or dispense cannabis might not be protected from federal prosecution for facilitating the violation of federal law. As a result, Governor Gregoire vetoed all of the licensing and registration processes set up in Parts VI-IX of ESSSB 5073. See Laws 2011, ch. 181, pp 1374-76.

Relevant to this appeal, however, the Governor did not veto ESSSB 5073, § 403, codified at RCW 69.51A.085, which established for the first time the right for qualifying patients to create and participate in “collective gardens for the purpose of producing, processing, transporting, and delivering cannabis for medical use” so long as each “collective

---

<sup>3</sup> A copy of ESSSB 5073, Laws 2011, ch. 181, including Governor Gregoire’s explanation of her partial veto is attached as Appendix 3.

garden.” (a) is limited to no more than ten qualifying patients; (b) contains no more than 15 plants per person or up to a total of 45 plants; (c) contains no more than 24 ounces of usable cannabis per patient; (d) keeps a copy of each qualifying patient’s “valid documentation *or* proof of registration;<sup>4</sup> and (e) ensures that no usable cannabis from the collective garden is delivered to anyone other than the qualifying patients participating in the collective garden.

The Governor also did not veto ESSSB 5073 § 401. While previously RCW 69.51A.040 provided only an affirmative defense against charges of violating state law, ESSSB 5073 § 401 amended RCW 69.51A.040 and declared that qualifying patients acting in compliance with Washington’s medical cannabis laws are exempt from prosecution for criminal or civil consequences.

**B. Appellant Deryck Tsang Participates in a Collective Garden in Kent**

Appellant Deryck Tsang is a resident of the City of Kent and a qualifying patient as defined by RCW 69.51A.040. Mr. Tsang created and participates in a “collective garden,” as defined by RCW 69.51A.085,

---

<sup>4</sup> Because the registration process was vetoed, the collective garden must keep a copy of each qualifying patient’s “valid documentation” as defined by ESSSB 5073, § 103, codified at RCW 69.51A.010(32)(a).

within the City of Kent. *Id.* The collective garden is located within leased property at the north end of West Valley Business Park in an area zoned M1 for Industrial Park. The building is safe and secured with 24-hour video surveillance, alarm monitoring, electric striking door, and neighbors Washington Patrol Unit, a private security firm. The collective garden is minutes from Valley Medical Hospital, walking distance to bus routes, ADA accessible and was in compliance with all zoning laws prior to the City's adoption of Ordinance 4036.

**C. City of Kent Ordinance 4036**

On June 5, 2012, the City of Kent adopted Ordinance 4036 (codified as part of Kent City Code "KCC" Title 15). Ordinance 4036 outright prohibits collective gardens in all zoning districts within the City of Kent. *See* KCC 15.08.290.A. Ordinance 4036 declares also that violation of the prohibition against collective gardens is a "public nuisance" and subject to mandatory abatement, as well as civil and criminal penalties. KCC 15.08.290.B.

**D. Procedural History**

On June 5, 2012, appellant Deryck Tsang, along with three other individuals and a partnership, filed a complaint with the King County Superior Court challenging the City of Kent's adoption of Ordinance

4036. CP 1-10. An Amended Complaint was filed June 21, 2012. CP 19-34.<sup>5</sup> Among several causes of action, Tsang et al. sought declaratory judgment and an order declaring Ordinance 4036, as it relates to collective gardens, contrary to law and null and void. CP 26.

On October 5, 2012, King County Superior Court Judge Jay White granted the City's motion for summary judgment. CP 558-60. Relevant to this appeal, the superior court dismissed Tsang et al.'s action for declaratory judgment, finding that City was not pre-empted by state law from passing Ordinance 4036. CP 559. The superior court also issued a permanent injunction prohibiting plaintiffs, including Deryck Tsang, from violating Ordinance 4036. CP 553-554. The superior court subsequently denied plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration. CP 643.

Deryck Tsang filed a timely appeal of the superior court's orders with the Court of Appeals, Division I. CP 644-651. Because the other plaintiffs, acting *pro se*, filed a notice of appeal with the Washington Supreme Court, Deryck Tsang's appeal was transferred to the Supreme Court on November 13, 2012. On December 5, 2012, Supreme Court

---

<sup>5</sup> Plaintiffs' original and amended complaints were filed *pro se*.

Commissioner Goff granted Deryck Tsang's Motion and stayed the superior court's October 5, 2012, orders pending appeal.

This Court subsequently transferred the appeal back to Division I. After briefing and argument, on March 31, 2014, the Court of Appeals, Division I, issued its decision in *Cannabis Action Coalition et al. v. City of Kent*, \_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, 322 P.3d 1246 (2014). The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court's decision upholding the City of Kent's ban on collective gardens. The decision contains three significant holdings; (1) that ESSSB 5073 and RCW 69.51A.085 did not legalize medical marijuana or collective gardens; (2) that the protections against criminal sanctions or civil consequences provided by ESSSB 5073 § 401 and RCW 69.51A.040 were of no effect; and (3) that RCW 69.51A.140 provided authority for cities and counties to ban collective gardens despite the Legislature leaving non-commercial collective gardens out of the statute.

Deryck Tsang filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration. The Court of Appeals denied Tsang's Motion for Reconsideration on April 25, 2014. (Appendix 2).

On May 1, 2014, the City of Kent filed a motion with Division I seeking an order lifting Commissioner Goff's December 5, 2011, order

staying the superior court's decision. On May 14, 2014, Division I denied the City's motion. The stay remains in place pending this Court's review.

This Petition for Review follows.

## V. ARGUMENT

### A. Introduction

The City of Kent's action banning collective gardens throughout the City should be pre-empted by State law. Preemption may occur when the Legislature states its intention by necessary implication to preempt the regulated field. *Kennedy v. City of Seattle*, 94 Wn.2d 376, 383, 617 P.2d 713 (1980). The test for whether an ordinance is in conflict with a general law promulgated by the Legislature is simply whether the ordinance permits that which the statute forbids or forbids what is permitted by the statute. *Weden v. San Juan Cy*, 135 Wn.2d 678, 693, 958 P.2d 273 (1998). In determining the intent of the Legislature, the Court will look the plain language of the statute. *State v. Keller*, 98 Wn. App. 381, 383-84, 990 P.2d 423 (1999), *cert. denied*, 534 U.S. 1130, 122 S.Ct. 1070, 151 L.Ed.2d 972 (2002).

Even with the Governor's partial veto, ESSSB 5073 contains at least three significant new provisions that collectively confirm a right for

qualified patients to establish collective gardens and prohibit local governments from banning their existence. First, RCW 69.51A.085<sup>6</sup> expressly authorizes qualified patients the right to establish collective gardens:

(1) Qualifying patients may create and participate in collective gardens for the purpose of producing, processing, transporting, and delivering cannabis for medical use subject to the following conditions:

\*\*\*

(2) For purposes of this section, the creation of a “collective garden” means qualifying patients sharing responsibility for acquiring and supplying the resources required to produce and process cannabis for medical use such as, for example, a location for a collective garden; equipment, supplies, and labor necessary to plant, grow, and harvest cannabis; cannabis plants, seeds, and cuttings; and equipment, supplies, and labor necessary for proper construction, plumbing, wiring, and ventilation of a garden of cannabis plants.

RCW 69.51A.085. Because RCW 69.51.085 establishes the right to create and participate in a collective garden, the City of Kent is not authorized to outright ban their existence.

---

<sup>6</sup> ESSB 5073, § 403.

Second, the legislative intent as stated in RCW 69.51A.005(2)(a)<sup>7</sup>

declares that:

[q]ualifying patients with terminal or debilitating medical conditions who, in the judgment of their health care professionals, may benefit from the medical use of cannabis, shall not be arrested, prosecuted, or subject to other criminal sanctions or civil consequences under state law based solely on their medical use of cannabis, notwithstanding any other provision of law.

And finally, the Legislature confirmed that:

*[t]he medical use of cannabis in accordance with the terms and conditions of this chapter does not constitute a crime and a qualifying patient or designated provider in compliance with the terms and conditions of this chapter may not be arrested, prosecuted, or subject to other criminal sanctions or civil consequences, for possession, manufacture, or delivery of, or for possession with intent to manufacture or deliver, cannabis under state law, or have real or personal property seized or forfeited for possession, manufacture, or delivery of, or for possession with intent to manufacture or deliver, cannabis under state law, and investigating peace officers and law enforcement agencies may not be held civilly liable for failure to seize cannabis in this circumstance, ....*

---

<sup>7</sup> ESSB 5073 § 102.

RCW 69.51A.040,<sup>8</sup> (emphasis added).

Thus, so long as Mr. Tsang (or any other qualified patient) complies with Chapter 69.51A RCW, and specifically the requirements for collective gardens set out in RCW 69.51A.085, they may not be subject to criminal or civil consequences. The City of Kent's Ordinance 4063, however, directly conflicts with RCW 69.51A.005, .040, and .085 by banning collective gardens within the City limits and declaring any violation a "public nuisance" subject to both civil and criminal liability.<sup>9</sup>

**B. The Court Should Accept Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1)**

This Court should accept review because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in direct conflict with a decision of this court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Division I's decision in *Cannabis Action Coalition* is premised in large part on its conclusion that "medical marijuana use, including collective gardens, was not legalized by the 2011 amendments to [Ch.

---

<sup>8</sup> ESSSB 5073, § 401.

<sup>9</sup> KCC 15.08.290.B declares any violation of the zoning code to be a public nuisance subject to mandatory abatement under KCC Chapter 1.04. KCC 1.04.030 declares any violation of a City regulation to be unlawful and subject to both civil and criminal liability.

69.51A].” Opinion at 14. This conclusion is in direct conflict with this Court’s interpretation of Ch. 69.51A in *State v. Kurtz*:

Moreover, in 2011 the legislature amended the Act making qualifying marijuana use a legal use, not simply an affirmative defense. RCW 69.51A.040. A necessity defense arises only when an individual acts contrary to law. Under RCW 69.51A.005(2)(a), a qualifying patient “shall not be arrested, prosecuted, or subject to other criminal actions or civil consequences under state law based solely on their medical use of cannabis, notwithstanding any other provision of law.” One who meets the specific requirements expressed by the legislature may not be charged with committing a crime and has no need for the necessity defense. Only where one’s conduct falls outside of the legal conduct of the Act, would a medical necessity defense be necessary. The 2011 amendment legalizing qualifying marijuana use strongly suggests that the Act was not intended to abrogate or supplant the common law necessity defense.

178 Wash.2d 466, 476, 309 P.3d 472 (2013) (Emphasis added).

Division I’s opinion dismissed *Kurtz* as *dicta* based largely on its belief that this Court’s reliance on the legislative intent section in RCW 69.51A.005 was misplaced. According to Division I, the Governor’s veto message effectively over-rode the plain language in the intent section.

Opinion at 14, fn. 13. But a critical review of the Governor's Veto Statement supports this Court's interpretation of the effect of ESSSB 5073 – that the Bill legalized qualified medical marijuana use.

First, and foremost, while RCW 69.51A.005 was amended by the legislature adding the language in RCW 69.51A.005(2)(a), *supra* at 5, this statement of intent was *not* vetoed by the Governor. Moreover the Governor's message fully supports the Legislature's intent:

Today, I have signed sections of JESSSB 5073) that retain the provisions of Initiative 692 *and provide additional state law protections*. Qualifying patients or their designated providers may grow cannabis for the patient's use *or participate in a collective garden* without fear of state law criminal prosecutions. Qualifying patients or their designated providers are also protected from certain state civil law consequences.

Laws of 2011, ch. 181, governor's veto message at 1374-75 (emphasis added).

Thus, not only did the Governor leave untouched the stated legislative intent in RCW 69.51A.005, she affirmatively supported it. The Governor confirmed that, even as vetoed, ESSSB 5073 added "additional" protection over that provided by the original Initiative, and confirmed that

qualifying patients and collective gardens could operate “without fear” of criminal or civil consequences. Division I erred in concluding that use of qualifying medical marijuana, including collective gardens, was not a legal use. Division I’s decision is in direct conflict with a decision of this Court.

**A. The Court Should Accept Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(4)**

This Court should also accept review of the Court of Appeal’s decision because this matter involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

First, as discussed above, the Court of Appeal’s ruling that private non-commercial use of medical marijuana and operation of collective gardens are illegal activities and that the protections against criminal prosecution and civil liability provided by RCW 69.51A.040 are of no effect is a matter of significant public concern.

The 2011 amendments to RCW 69.51A.040 changed the pre-existing statute --which provided only an affirmative defense – to expressly allowing qualified use. The Legislature expressly confirmed that:

*[t]he medical use of cannabis in accordance with the terms and conditions of this chapter*

*does not constitute a crime and a qualifying patient or designated provider in compliance with the terms and conditions of this chapter may not be arrested, prosecuted, or subject to other criminal sanctions or civil consequences, for possession, manufacture, or delivery of, or for possession with intent to manufacture or deliver, cannabis under state law, or have real or personal property seized or forfeited for possession, manufacture, or delivery of, or for possession with intent to manufacture or deliver, cannabis under state law, and investigating peace officers and law enforcement agencies may not be held civilly liable for failure to seize cannabis in this circumstance, ....*

RCW 69.51A.040,<sup>10</sup> (emphasis added).

Despite this significant change to the preexisting law, the Governor did not veto this amendment. Moreover, as discussed above, the governor expressly recognized that the act, as vetoed, provided “additional” protections and allowed qualifying patients, designated providers, *and participation in collective gardens* to operate “without fear” of criminal prosecutions or civil law consequences. Laws of 2011, ch. 181, governor’s veto message, at 1374-75.

---

<sup>10</sup> ESSB 5073, § 401.

By nullifying RCW 69.51A.040, Division I eliminated the “additional” protections intended by the Legislature and Governor. The decision directly contradicts the Legislatures intent as well as the Governor’s intent through her partial veto. Division I’s decision now leaves qualified medical marijuana patients in limbo as to whether they may be prosecuted under criminal or civil laws. A timely decision by this Court will clarify the intent of the law.

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