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

1 RCW 69.51A.043 provides: Failure to register-· Affirmative defense. (1) A qualifying 
patient or designated provider who is not registered with the registry established in 
*section 901 of this act may raise the affirmative defense set forth in subsection (2) of 
this section, if ... (b) The qualifYing patient or designated provider possesses no more 
cannabis than the limits set forth in RCW 69.5JA.040(1) ... 
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provider who is not registered with the registry established 
in section 90 I. Because these sections govern those who 
have not registered, this section is meaningful even though 
section 901 has been vetoed. 

Petitioners assert that the collective garden statute is an 

independent basis for the legal production, distribution, and possession of 

medical cannabis and that no registration was required. There is no legal 

foundation for this assertion. Without question, RCWs 69.51A.040 and 

.043 apply to collective gardens. First, the clear legislative intent ofRCW 

69.51A.040 was that eve1y qualifying patient or designated provider must 

have been registered with the state registry in order to satisfy the 

requirements of legal cannabis possession, manufacture, or delivery, 

whether they engaged in such activity through a collective garden or 

otherwise. There is no exception for collective gardens in RCW 

69.51A.040. 

Second, the collective garden statute itself acknowledges that a 

participant would be registered, but then allows for the affirmative defense 

set f01th in RCW 69.51A.043 if he or she were not registered. The 

collective garden statute is found in RCW 69.51A.085, and provides: 

(1) Qualifying patients may create and participate in 
collective gardens for the purpose of producing, processing, 
transporting, and delivering cannabis for medical use 
subject to the following conditions: ... 

(d) A copy of each qualifying patient's valid 
documentation or proof of registration with the 
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registry established in *section 901 of this act, 
including a copy of the patient's proof of identity, 
must be available at all times on the premises of the 
collective garden; ... 

(3) A person who knowingly violates a provision of 
subsection (1) of this section is not entitled to the 
protections of this chapter. 

RCW 69.51A.085 (emphasis added). Subsection (l)(d) of RCW 

69.51A.085 recognizes that there were two options for the qualified 

patient or designated provider paliicipating in the collective garden: (1) 

either provide valid documentation of a health care provider and be 

subject to criminal charges but retain an affitmative defense, or (2) be 

registered with the state registry and paliicipate in collective garden 

activities lawfully. Again, because the registration system was vetoed by 

the governor, the lawful participation in a collective garden is impossible. 

What remains of the MUCA, then, is only the availability of the 

affirmative defense, even when it comes to collective gardens. 

Subsection (3) of RCW 69.51A.085 provides that a person who 

does not comply with subsection ( 1) "is not entitled to the protections" of 

the MUCA. The protections of the MUCA included either conduct 

deemed legal by virtue of registration in accordance with RCW 

69.51A.040 [impossible to achieve due to the governor's veto] or an 

affirmative defense by virtue of the application ofRCW 69.51A.043. 
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This interpretation is suppmted by the governor's veto message, 

wherein she stated: 

I have been open, and remain open, to legislation to exempt 
qualifying patients and their designated providers from 
state criminal penalties when they join nonprofit 
cooperative organizations to share responsibility for 
producing, processing and dispensing cannabis for medical 
use. Such exemption from criminal penalties should be 
conditioned on compliance with local government location 
and health and safety specifications. 

Laws of2011, Ch. 181, governor's veto message at 1376. 

By this statement, the governor remained open to future legislation 

to exempt celtain conduct from criminal conduct, but at that time, she 

intended that ESSSB 5073 would not create an exemption from state law 

criminal penalties. 

As a result of the governor's veto, ESSSB 5073 did nothing to 

change the status quo in relation to medical cannabis. What once was a 

crime remained a crime, and qualifying patients and designated providers 

had an affhmative defense to criminal charges in the event they were 

charged with a crime. State v. F1y, 168 Wn.2d 1, 10,228 P.3d 1 (2010). 

This leads to the only logical and available resolution of this case: 

The fact that the MUCA provides only an affirmative defense means that 

the underlying conduct is illegal, and as a result, the City's ordinance that 

RESPONDENT CITY OF KENT'S 
ANSWER TO MOTION FOR 
DISCRETIONARY REVIEW 11 



prohibits illegal conduct (patiicipation in collective gardens) is consistent 

with state law. 

2. Cities Were Not Divested of Authority to Zone Collective 
Gardens. Rather, Cities Were Provided Express Authority 
to Regulate and Prohibit Them. 

At the end of the day, the above analysis regarding the illegality of 

medical cannabis under the MUCA is almost superfluous. While 

Petitioners engage in a valiant effo1i of legal contortionism, cities were 

expressly provided with the jurisdiction to zone for collective gardens. 

RCW 69.51A.l40 provides in part: 

Cities and towns may adopt and enforce any of the 
following pertaining to the production, processing, or 
dispensing of cannabis or cannabis products within their 
jurisdiction: Zoning requirements, business licensing 
requirements, health and safety requirements, and business 
taxes. Nothing in chapter 181, Laws of 2011 is intended to 
limit the authority of cities and towns to impose zoning 
requirements or other conditions upon licensed dispensers, 
so long as such requirements do not preclude the possibility 
of siting licensed dispensers within the jurisdiction. 

By the specific terms of RCW 69.51A.140, cities were expressly 

provided with the authority to "adopt and enforce" "zoning requirements" 

"pertaining to the production, processing or dispensing of cannabis." See 

RCW 69.51A.140. A collective garden, by statutory terms, is nothing 

more than a mechanism for "producing, processing, transporting, and 

delivering cannabis for medical use." See RCW 69.51A.085. 
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Harmonizing these two statutes, it is obvious that both the legislature and 

the govemor intended that cities be permitted to enact zoning regulations 

to regulate or exclude collective gardens. 

B. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS IS NOT IN CONFLICT 

WITH THE KURTZ DECISION OF THE SUPREME COURT. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with the 

decision of this court in State v. Kurtz, 178 Wn.2d 466, 309 P.3d 472 

(2013). The statements made in the Kurtz case are dicta. "Statements in a 

case that do not relate to an issue before the court and are unnecessary to 

decide the case constitute obiter dictum, and need not be followed." 

Pierson v. Hernandez, 149 Wn. App. 297, 305, 202 P.3d 1014 (2009) 

(internal citations omitted). Stated another way, 

[t]he Supreme Court's interpretation of a statute does not 
constitute dictum if disputing parties placed the question of 
the meaning of the statute before the comt in a case in 
which the statute's meaning is central to the dispute, the 
question was thoroughly briefed and argued by the patties, 
and the comt deliberately expressed itself on the statute's 
meaning in resolving the case. 

City of Redmond v. Central Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd, 
136 Wn.2d 38, 53, 959 P.2d 1091 (1998). 

In Kurtz, this Court overmled Division II of the Comt of Appeals 

which had held that the MUCA was the controlling law on affirmative 

defenses, and therefore, the use of cannabis could not form the basis of a 

medical necessity defense. In a close five to four decision, this Court, in 
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dicta, stated, "in 2011 the legislature amended the Act making qualifying 

marijuana use a legal use, not simply an affirmative defense." State v. 

Kurtz, 178 Wn. 2d at 476. This Court also stated "[o]ne who meets the 

specific requirements expressed by the legislature may not be charged 

with committing a crime and has no need for the necessity defense." Id 

This Court did not analyze the impact of ESSSB 5073, did not review the 

section relating to collective gardens, and did not address mlmicipal 

authority to regulate medical cannabis through zoning. 

The City addressed the Kurtz case before the Court of Appeals, 

arguing that the statement by the Supreme Court was dicta. In refe1Ting to 

the Kurtz case as dicta in its decision, the Court of Appeals stated: 

[T]he Supreme Court briefly stated in dicta, "[I]n 2011 the 
legislature amended the Act making qualifYing marijuana 
use a legal use, not simply an affirmative defense." As 
authority for this assertion, the court cited RCW 
69.51A.005. RCW 69.51A.005, a preexisting provision 
entitled "Purpose and intent," was amended by the 
legislature in ESSSB 5073, section 102. Section 102 was 
included in the bill as passed by both houses of the 
legislature and accurately expresses the intent of the 
original bill. While the governor did not veto section 102, 
the governor's veto of numerous other sections of the bill 
significantly changed the bill's purpose. Additionally, the 
governor did veto section 101, a new statement of 
legislative purpose .... Moreover, the pat1ies in Kurtz did 
not address this question in their briefing to the Supreme 
Com1 and the court's footnoted statement was not important 
to its holding. Thus, we do not view this statement 
in Kurtz as controlling the outcome of this litigation. 
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Cannabis Action Coalition v. Kent, No. 70396-0-I at 14 n. 13. 

Importantly, there is no question that the legislature did indeed 

amend the MUCA in order to make "qualifying" cannabis use a legal use 

under state law. Not addressed by the Comt in Kurtz is the impact of the 

govemor's veto, which made state legalization without effect. 

In addition, the Comt in Kurtz quoted a significant portion ofRCW 

69.51A.005, which is not operative language, but rather the legislature's 

statement of intent in passing ESSSB 5073. This intent section does not 

give rise to enforceable rights. Judd v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 152 Wn.2d 

195, 203, 95 P.3d 337 (2004). Moreover, this intent was altered by the 

governor's veto. Cannabis Action Coalition v. Kent, No. 70396-0-I at 17. 

The purpose of this Court's statement in Kurtz is also important. 

This Court was addressing the impact the MUCA had on the ability of a 

criminal defendant to assett a medical necessity defense. It is clear that 

the Comt was not attempting to declare, after analysis of the statute, that 

cannabis is legal. Rather, this Comt was pointing out that the legislature 

only intended to make "qualifying" cannabis use legal, and thus, some 

cannabis use would remain illegal. As this Court stated, "Only where 

one's conduct falls outside of the legal conduct of the Act, would a 

medical necessity defense be necessary." !d. Thus, according to this Comi, 

there was still a need for the medical necessity defense because the 
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MUCA did not legalize all cannabis use. Ultimately, the paragraph in the 

Kurtz case in which the above statements were made was of no 

significance to its holding, as the remainder of its decision rests, in part, on 

the concept that the presence of a statutory affirmative defense does not 

automatically nullify the medical necessity defense. 

Moreover, it is significant that the charges Mr. Kurtz was facing 

arose in 2010, prior to the effective date of ESSSB 5073. There was 

simply no need for the Supreme Court to venture into an analysis of 

ESSSB 5073, and it should be noted that neither the prosecutor nor Mr. 

Kurtz addressed the issue in briefing. Cannabis Action Coalition v. Kent, 

No. 70396-0-I at 14 n. 13. 

In Kurtz, the effect of ESSSB 5073 was not placed before the 

Supreme Court. In fact, the charges in question were filed prior to the 

passage of ESSSB 5073. Clearly, the impact of ESSSB 5073 was not 

central to the dispute in Kurtz. As noted, the parties did not brief the 

interpretation of the MUCA following ESSSB 5073, and the Court 

statement in Kurtz was not central to the resolution of the issues. 

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals went to great lengths to 

methodically interpret the MUCA in the aftermath ofESSSB 5073 and the 

governor's vetoes. This was the first appellate court to engage in the 
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analysis, and therefore, the decision is not in conflict with preexisting 

decisions of the Supreme Court or other appellate comts. 

C. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DOES NOT PRESENT AN 

ISSUE OF SIGNIFICANT PUBLIC INTEREST. 

The instant case is a simple land use case, and the decision of the 

Comt of Appeals was nanowly focused. The legislature and the comts 

determined long ago that cities have the constitutional authority to regulate 

the use of land unless the legislature specifically divests cities of that 

authority. State ex rel. Schillberg v. Everett Dist. Justice Court, 92 Wn.2d 

106, 108 594 P.2d 448 (1979); Lawson v. City of Pasco, 144 Wn. App. 

203, 209, 181 P.3d 896 (2008). The ruling of the Court of Appeals 

changes nothing in this regard. The comt's interpretation of RCW 

69.51A.140, wherein it determined that the statute expressly provides 

cities with authority to zone for medical marijuana uses, creates no new 

law, and cettainly no issue of public imp01tance beyond the narrow issue 

of medical cannabis land use authority. 

Moreover, with regards to the legality of medical cannabis, the 

court simply reviewed statutory language and found that the expression of 

intent of the governor's veto was aligned with the statutory language that 

remained post gubernatorial veto. In the end, the decision of the Comt of 

Appeals changes nothing in relation to medical cannabis: In accordance 
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with the Supreme Comt opinion in State v. Fry, it is still illegal, and avails 

one charged with a medical cannabis-related offense with the possibility of 

an affirmative defense. 168 Wn.2d 1, 10, 228 P.3d 1 (2010). The fact that 

the Petitioners incorrectly intetpret the effect ofESSSB 5073 as legalizing 

medical cannabis collective gardens does not elevate this issue to one of 

substantial public impmtance. 

As the Court of Appeals noted, the legislature failed to oven·ide the 

governor's veto, knowing full well that despite legislative effmts, there 

would be no opp01tunity for legal medical cannabis after all. There were 

around 53 bills proposed during the 2014 legislative session relating to 

some aspect of cannabis. "Legislature Fails to Pass Significant Marijuana 

Legislation this Session," http://www.awcnet.org/ 

LegislativeAdvocacy/Legislativeissues/Tabid/677 I ArtMID/1863/ AtticleiD 

/602/Legislature-fails-to-pass-significant-marijuana-legislation-this-

session.aspx, March 21, 2014. 

This included five bills relating to medical cannabis (SHB 2144, 

ESSHB 2149, HB 2638, ESSSB 5887, and SSB 6178), one of which, HB 

2638, that would have eliminated a city's ability to zone for any cannabis-

related land uses. Clearly, the legislature knows how to preempt a city's 

land use authority when it desires to, evidenced by these bills, a variety of 

other land use statutes (e.g. RCWs 35A.63.215, 36.70A.200, and 
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70.128.140), as well as the language it used in RCW 69.51A.140 to 

prevent cities from prohibiting "licensed dispensers." In relation to 

medical cannabis collective gardens, the legislature chose not to divest 

cities of the ability to zone when it passed ESSSB 5073, and during later 

legislative sessions. The Supreme Court need not now weigh into the 

issue when the legislature has expressed such public indifference. 

Finally, the cannabis landscape has changed. ESSSB 5073 was the 

legislature's attempt to legalize cannabis through the only statutory 

stmcture available. In 2012, Washington voters passed Initiative No. 502, 

which created a tightly-regulated state system for the production, 

processing and retail sales of recreational cannabis, and which legalized 

the possession of small amounts of cannabis for recreational use. Initiative 

Measure 502, approved November 6, 2012. Very soon, medical and 

recreational cannabis users alike will.have access to cannabis through this 

state-regulated system. In light of this, access to cannabis by way of 

illegal collective gardens is not of substantial public interest. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

The petitions for review should be denied. The decision of the 

Comt of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision of this Coult, does not 

present a question of law under the Constitution, and does not involve an 

issue of substantial public interest.